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SOUTHEAST CONSOLIDATED ZONING BOARD 
Johnson County Fire District No. 2 Station 

19120 Metcalf Avenue 
Stilwell, Kansas 

 
MINUTES 

Wednesday, February 5, 2020 
6:30 P.M. 

 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 
A meeting of the Southeast Consolidated Zoning Board, Johnson County, Kansas, was convened 
at 6:30 p.m. on Wednesday, February 5, 2020, and was called to order by Jason Meier, Chair, 
with the following members present and participating, to-wit: Ken Klingensmith, John Lloyd, 
Kenneth Sanderson, Dennis Bollin and Ed Schlesselman. Andrew Ramos was absent. Also in 
attendance were Jeffrey Malotte and Pamela Hayhow, Planning Department.  
II.  AGENDA ITEMS 
Chairman Meier: Is there anything that needs to be added, deleted, revised? [none] Any 
disclosures of conflicts of interest? [none] Any disclosure of external contacts or discussions? 
[none]  
III.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Chairman Meier:  Do I hear an approval of the minutes of the January 8th meeting? Does anyone 
want to make a motion to approve the minutes.  
Motion by Mr. Bollin, seconded by Mr. Lloyd, that the minutes of the Zoning Board meeting held 
on December 4, 2019, be approved. Motion passed 6-0. 

IV. BOARD REPORTS   
Chairman Meier:  Board of County Commissioners’ actions.  
Ms. Hayhow:  Staff owes you an update from your recommendation of approval from the 
December 4th meeting. You recommended approval for renewal of a CUP for more accessory 
area allowed for the Felzke property. That application was approved by the Board of County 
Commissioners on January 16.  
This Zoning Board met last month, on January 8th. There were two items on the agenda. The first 
item, you recommended approval of a rezoning to the PRUR district and a preliminary 
development plan for five residential lots on the southwest corner of 199th and Antioch for Adams 
Farm. That recommended will go to the Board of County Commissioners for decision next week, 
on February 13th, so we’ll have to give you an update on that at your next meeting. The second 
item is the first item on tonight’s agenda.  
Chairman Meier: The second item is the first item? Okay.  
Ms. Hayhow:  Sorry about that.  
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Chairman Meier: Any Planning Commission actions? You already went through all of that. 
Progress report on Stilwell Community Plan?  
Mr. Klingensmith: We’ll be having a town hall meeting on March 5th for the entire community, and 
announcements on that should be coming out shortly.  
V. BUSINESS BEFORE THE BOARD 

A. Application No. SE 19-19-CUP (AU) Conditional Use Permit – 21150 Country Place 
Lane 
David W. and Julie D. Secrist, applicant/landowners, requesting Conditional Use Permit 
for a private dog kennel on approximately 7 acres, on property zoned RN1, Residential 
Neighborhood One District, in Section 15, Township 15, Range 25. 

 
Chairman Meier: On your agenda you’ll se the Application No. SE 19-19-CUP (AU) Conditional 
Use Permit, for 21150 Country Place Lane. I would like to let the board know that the County 
Attorney and staff contacted me earlier, just yesterday or the day before, and there were some 
concerns and questions about the January 8th meeting. They actually gave a little thing to read 
here, so let me read this, so everybody can understand what the County Attorney has suggested.  
Earlier this week I was contacted by members of the Planning and Legal staffs, who raised 
concerns regarding conflicting and confusing statements in the minutes of our meeting of January 
8, concerning whether or not the public hearing was actually closed last meeting, such that no 
more evidence or testimony would be accepted by this board prior to our vote on the Secrist 
application. Apparently, County staff received an inquiry from a local attorney, who specifically 
asked if the public hearing had closed or not, as it was not clear to him.  
Having read the minutes of January 8th, I believe the Zoning Board intended to continue the entire 
the matter to this meeting today and not close the public hearing, although that direction was not 
as clearly stated as it could have been. After conferring with County staff and having considered 
their recommendations, it is my opinion that the best approach we should take to remedy the 
confusion is to continue this matter for one month, until our next meeting of March 4th, in order to 
allow Planning staff an opportunity to give new published and written notice that the public hearing 
process shall continue, and a public hearing shall occur next meeting, in which the public shall be 
allowed to present comments and testimony, and additional evidence will be considered by this 
Zoning Board.  
I, therefore, would like to make a motion that the Zoning Board continue Application No. SE 19-
19-CUP to our next meeting of March 4th, at 6:30, at this location, at which time the public hearing 
process shall continue, and a public hearing shall be held on that application.  Do I hear a second 
for this continuance?  
Mr. Sanderson: I’ll second the motion.  
Chairman Meier: Ken Sanderson seconds. One further clarification. Please be aware that if 
anyone had previously provided comments, those comments are already part of the record, such 
that you don’t need to be present on March 4th to repeat your comments. Furthermore, if you 
cannot be present on March 4th, you have the option of providing your written comments to County 
Planning staff, who will forward them on to us for our consideration prior to the next meeting.  
So, those of you that are here tonight, I apologize that this wasn’t something that you couldn’t 
have been notified of earlier, that this just happened. So, I just wanted you all to know, we’re going 
to, unfortunately, continue this until next month. We will reconvene, and anyone that wants to 
make comments, again, will be able to do so without any issues of [inaudible]. We just want to 
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make sure that all the T’s are crossed and the I’s are dotted. At this time, if anybody is here for 
the first application, you are free to go, because we’re going to move on to the next two items on 
the agenda. Thank you very much for coming.  
Mr. Klingensmith: Jason?  
Chairman Meier: Yes?  
Mr. Klingensmith: Do you want to do “all in favor?”  
Chairman Meier: Let’s do that. I’m sorry. I didn’t do that. Let’s vote on this.  
Motion is approved.  

Chairman Meier: Thank you.  
B. Application No. SE 19-27-CUP (AU) Conditional Use Permit – 19850 Newton Street   

Phelps Engineering, Inc., applicant, and JJL Properties, LLC, landowner requesting a 
revised conditional use permit for an existing warehouse office and expanded outdoor 
storage (Miller Plumbing) on approximately five acres, in Section 6, Township 15 
South, Range 25 East. 
 

Chairman Meier: Staff report, please.  
Mr. Malotte: This is a Conditional Use Permit for a storage yard, plumbing contractor shop, 
outdoor storage of vehicles, equipment and plumbing materials. This was actually heard by the 
Zoning Board first in 2017. It’s, all but a fence and some landscaping, is essentially built. What 
this is about is there were certain stipulations on the original plan that required, particularly for the 
fence on the north and east sides of the property…You can see the red outline – can you go back 
once, Pam -  that in 2017 there was commercial zoning granted within the red outline for part of 
the property, just the part that they are using for the plumbing contractor shop. And there was a 
CUP that had certain requirements for the way things looked and how it was built, and the plan. 
If you could run it forward one more.  
Largely, 99 percent of this, was built according to the plan, but there were a couple of things that 
were specifically stipulated that were done a little differently, so they needed to come back and 
ask us to take another look at it and see if we couldn’t be comfortable with the way it was done. 
They’re also asking for some outdoor storage that wasn’t either proposed or allowed the last time. 
Storage of equipment in that storage area that’s shown right there where Pam’s got the hand 
wandering around. The outdoor storage could be no taller than six feet by what staff is suggesting. 
There’s an 8 ft. fence that would go around where that red area is, and there is going to be trees 
for landscaping around that perimeter. The 8 ft. fence also wraps around a little bit of the north 
side. Then the existing 6 ft. fence is the blue line.  
The issue with fencing was that, originally this fence was to be, under the CUP, this fence was 
supposed to be inset into the property a little bit, and there was supposed to be landscaping – 
evergreen trees – around the outside. The way it was constructed, it’s a 6 ft. tall wooden fence, 
but it’s on the property line. If you could run back to the last slide, Pam, the very last one. You can 
see – this is from the inside – the fence is constructed on the property line, and there’s a significant 
amount of riprap on the inside to deal with drainage.  
Staff went out and took a look at this. We were talking to the applicant about how we were going 
to resolve it, and how we were going to recommend…The fence, for the CUP, required masonry 
or brick columns every 50 ft. It required that landscaping, and the fence to be moved in. We went 
out and took a look at this. Essentially, to paraphrase the report, the fence meets the requirements 
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of the regulations as it is. There was aesthetic enhancements that were approved by the board, 
but it does screen what it’s supposed to screen. Staff is comfortable, if the Zoning Board is 
comfortable with going forward as it was built. If you go up in the neighborhood and look, and you 
look at it from around the property, the fence is doing its job. It just isn’t quite as fancy a fence as 
was approved.  
The other issue is there was some banding on the original buildings, some dark banding around 
the lower part. The stipulations required that the new buildings match the old buildings. The new 
buildings, the color isn’t a problem, but it doesn’t have the banding on it. The banding is pretty 
much hidden by the fencing, anyway, so staff was comfortable that the difference wouldn’t be 
visible off the property.  
There is some lighting that needed to be changed. My understanding is the applicant was in the 
process of that. They could speak to where they’re at on that. And, the outdoor storage that I 
mentioned. That’s the one thing that’s an added use that the Zoning Board didn’t consider before. 
Now that I’ve just winged it, let me see if I’ve missed anything important. I’ve pretty much covered 
the main issues that we looked at.  
There is also things that are unchanged from the previous application. The hours of operation are 
the same. Hours and days of operation. That there won’t be any inoperable vehicles or trailers 
parked on the site. No outdoor storage of vehicle parts. No speakers. Compliance with the codes. 
The detention basin was built, and the engineer verified that it was built according to plan, so the 
additional runoff from any new paving or structures dealt with. Screening trees that I mentioned. 
Pam, can you put up the landscaping plan?  
This shows the new fencing around the perimeter. Here on the west side of the site, and you can 
see the trees that would be planted here should serve to buffer the view from 69 Highway. You 
really can’t see much from down here off the property. It’s pretty heavily treed. There’s a diagram 
with the estimated plant schedule.  
With that, staff is recommending approval with the stipulations mentioned. Materials are only 
allowed in the outdoor storage area. We’re recommending a 10-year term, as before. The 
screening, the fencing, the existing new fencing, the existing 6 ft. tall fencing, we’re okay with. 
The building color we’re okay with. If you have any questions, I’ll be happy to answer them.  
Chairman Meier: Any questions of staff? I have a couple questions. Have there been any 
complaints from neighbors? 
Mr. Malotte: Not to us, no.  
Chairman Meier: And refresh my memory – what was there before Mr. Miller made the 
improvements to the site?  
Mr. Malotte: There was a landscaping business that existed with a Conditional Use Permit under 
RUR zoning.  
Chairman Meier: Okay.  
Mr. Malotte: Two of the buildings were there for the landscaping business. Mr. Miller has added 
an addition to one and the new building. These buildings are connected now by this breezeway. 
These two buildings were there.  
Chairman Meier: Thank you. Any other questions of staff?  
Mr. Klingensmith: I just have one comment. I just wanted to thank staff for appreciation, or 
acknowledgement of the community plan, because of the characteristics that we’re looking for in this 
Stilwell Community thing. You’ve addressed it in the lighting situation. The idle truck time. The 
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screenings and other elements in your recommended stipulations, and I just want to acknowledge 
that, and I appreciate that.  
Chairman Meier: All right, seeing no other questions for staff, would the applicant like to make a 
presentation?  
Harold Phelps, Phelps Engineering, 1270 N. Winchester, Olathe, Kansas, appeared before the 
Board and made the following comments:  
Mr. Phelps: I’ll keep it brief. I am representing Brian Miller, which is here this evening. If you are 
familiar with that area or have looked at it in the last couple years, Brian has made significant 
improvements to the site. He has paved all the drive areas on the inside, as shown on the plan. 
Brian has made significant improvements to the plan. When he got out there and was actually 
putting the fence in, as Jeff point out, it was really kind of a grading and drainage issue, and then 
being able to maintain the areas would have been outside of the fence, rather than inside the 
fence. So now, with the fence on the property line, he can actually maintain that entirely from his 
own property. So, that’s really the issue with the fence itself.  
On the banding, I think the banding just kind of got lost from the architectural plans to what actually 
got built. But again, as Jeff point out, the banding was painted, wainscot on the lower 3 ft. of the 
buildings, and you can’t see any of the building from that level from outside of the property. So, 
it’s really an architectural feature that has no real benefit.  
I will address the lighting. The lighting that originally was put up was a wall pack. You could 
actually see the visible glow of light. Brian has replaced those, and that is meeting the County 
standard.  
As Jeff point out, the only other item is we are asking for the outdoor storage. With that, we’re 
adding the additional fence that Pam was showing originally in red. That’s an additional fence that 
we’re adding, so that was not originally required to screen that outdoor screening. Brian will have 
things like some pipe material that comes in in stacks. And then park his trucks out there as well. 
We are screening that with an 8 ft. fence and screening it with the landscaping. With that, I’d be 
happy to answer any questions.  
Chairman Meier: Any questions of the applicant? I notice one of the stipulations was the height of 
stacking material out there. Is that going to be a concern?  
Mr. Phelps: I’m sorry, what?  
Chairman Meier: The height of the material you’re going to stack out there?  
Brian Miller: That’s why we’re made to fence 8 ft. on the back side instead of 6 ft., so they won’t 
see it.  
Mr. Phelps: So you’ll be limited to 6 ft. height inside the fence, right?  
Chairman Meier: And, what’s the timing on the improvements?  
Mr. Phelps: Brian, like I said, has made most of the improvements, so we’re at the point right now 
to put up the additional fence and the landscaping, and as soon as we get authorization, we’ll get 
started on the project. It’ll be spring. It’ll be spring planting and construction.  
Chairman Meier: Okay.  
Mr. Malotte: The suggested stipulation says that it needs to be installed within six months.  
Chairman Meier: Okay, thank you. Any other questions of the applicant: [None] All right. Thank 
you very much. Now is the time when we open it up to public input. Is there anyone here that 
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would like to speak on this application? Seeing none, we will go ahead and close the public input 
portion of the meeting, and now is the time when we talk amongst ourselves. Anyone have any 
comments?  
I don’t see any issues with the application. I can understand that they’re different than what we 
approved, but honestly, it’s probably a cleaner look from the neighbors as they look to the fence, 
versus having potentially a riprap area with trees growing through it that could have gotten really 
weedy, and the neighbors would have seen that, versus probably a cleaner look on the fence. 
That’s just my first take on it. The banding doesn’t seem to me…you can’t see the building. Those 
are just my thoughts. Would anyone like to make a motion on this application?  
Mr. Klingensmith: I make a motion for Application No. SE 19-27-CUP (AU) Conditional Use Permit – 
19850 Newton Street. I move to approve the revised Conditional Use Permit for the plumbing 
contractor shop and yard with outdoor storage of vehicles, equipment and plumbing materials for a 
10-year term for the reasons and stipulations suggested by staff on page 9, 10 and 11 of the staff 
report.  
Chairman Meier: Do I hear a second?  
Mr. Sanderson: I’ll second.  
Motion passes, 6-0 

Chairman Meier: This will go before the Board -?  
Mr. Malotte: This will go to the Board of County Commissioners on Thursday, March 12, 2020, at 
9:30 a.m., County Administration Building, Commission Hearing Room, 111 South Cherry Street, 
Olathe, Kansas.  
Chairman Meier: Excellent. Thank you very much.  
 

C. Application No. SE 19-28-FDP (AU) Final Development Plan (Plat) - 20050 Antioch 
Road  
Dennis Patterson, Prime Development Land Company, applicant, and Clay Clair, BFP 
Real Holdings, LLC, landowner, requesting Final Development Plan as the final plat for 5 
residential lots on approximately 51 acres, (Adams Farm) in Section 12, Township 15, 
Range 24. 
 

Chairman Meier: I going to have to recuse myself, because I had a hand in the design, so I’m 
going to have to step out and Mr. Sanderson is going to manage the meeting from here on out.  
Mr. Miller: Go Chiefs!  
Chairman Meier: For the record, go Chiefs! 
[Chairman Meier left the meeting.] 
Vice Chair Sanderson:  We’ll start the application No. SE 19-28-FDPp. It’s the final development 
plan for 20050 Antioch Road. Prime Development is the developer, and this is their final plat. We’ll 
open with staff. Do you want to give us a report? 
Ms. Hayhow:  I’d like to enter the staff report dated January 29th into the record. I’ll give a very, 
very brief presentation. The subject 51-acre property is located on the southwest corner of 199th 
and Antioch. As I presented during the board reports earlier, the rezoning and preliminary 
development plan requests have not been decided by the Board of County Commissioners yet. 
The applicant is aware, and staff is recommending a stipulation that this final development plan, 
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which will be the final plat, is dependent upon approval of the rezoning and preliminary 
development plan applications by the Board of County Commissioners next week, on the 13th.  
Staff reviewed the final development plan for compliance with the preliminary development plan. 
The proposed lots comply with the preliminary development plan layout. The development will be 
constructed in a single phase, and the applicant will install two fire hydrants along, to within 600 
ft. of each lot, to meet building codes.  
Staff reviewed the final development plan for compliance with the recommended stipulations for 
the preliminary development plan. All of the stipulations were either met or are carried over to the 
final development plan. There’s not very many, so not very many were carried over.  
Staff is recommending approval, with the few stipulations listed on page four of the staff report, 
because the final development plan complies with both the preliminary development plan and the 
Zoning and Subdivision Regulations. With that, I stand for questions, if you have any for staff. The 
applicant, Dennis Patterson, and his engineer, Jake Hattock, are in the audience tonight, if you 
have questions for them.  
Vice Chair Sanderson: Does anyone have any questions of the staff? Hearing none, we’ll move 
to the applicant, to say a few words about the application.  
Jake Hattock, Schlagel and Associates, 14920 W. 107th Street, Lenexa, Kansas, appeared before 
the Board and made the following comments:  
Mr. Hattock: As Pam mentioned, we’ve been through the preliminary a couple weeks back, and 
are aware that we’ve got to go through the Board of County Commissioners next week before it’s 
fully approved, but we agree with the stipulations, and no further comments.  
Vice Chair Sanderson: Questions of the applicant? Hearing none, discussion? We saw this about 
a month ago.  
Mr. Klingensmith: It’s consistent with what we had before?  
Vice Chair Sanderson: Yes. Any other discussion among the board members? I’d entertain a 
motion then.  
Mr. Lloyd: I’ll move to recommend the approval of Application No. SE 19-28-FDP (AU) Final 
Development Plan, which will serve as the final plat, for the subdivision to be known as Adams 
Farm for the reasons and subject to the stipulations laid out by the staff.  
Vice Chair Sanderson: Is there a second to this motion?  
Mr. Bollin: I’ll second the motion.  
Motion passes, 5-0.  
Ms. Hayhow:  Your recommendation will go to the Board of County Commissioners on Thursday, 
March 12th, 9:30 a.m., County Administration Building, Commission Hearing Room, 111 South 
Cherry Street, Olathe, Kansas.  
   
Vice Chair Sanderson: Thank you.  
 
Unidentified Speaker: Thank you.  
  
Vice Chair Sanderson: Yeah, thank you. Good luck. 

 
VI.  OTHER BUSINESS [None]  
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VII.  BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR [None.] 
IX.  NEW BUSINESS [None.]  
ADJOURNMENT 
Vice Chair Sanderson: I’d entertain a motion for adjournment.  
Mr. Lloyd made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Mr. Schlesselman seconded the motion.  

Motion passes, 5-0.  

Thereupon, with no further business to come before the Southeast Consolidated Zoning Board, 
Vice Chair Sanderson, at 6:55 p.m., declared the meeting to be Adjourned. 
 
_______________________________ 
Jason Meier, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary to the Board 


